RECEIVED

Jul 08 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001889

Case No. 2020-CP-23-01458

Beverly Taylor, Marvin Taylor and Ada Alvarez, individually and on behalf of all
similarly situated individuals, Respondents

v.

Raymond A. Wedlake a/k/a R. Allan Joy, Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

R. Allan Joy
216 Ashcroft Lane
Simpsonville, SC 29681
Tel: 864-356-5736
ra14joy102@proton.me
Appellant (*Pro Se*)

July 8 2024

Emily O'Brian, Esq.
Campbell Teague LLC
16 W. North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
Tel: 864-326-0597

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A) The Jury erred with **ERROR OF FACT** by ignoring Appellant's factual evidence
- B) The Judge erred with a deficient charge to the Jury, which left jurors devoid of facts needed for proper deliberation, with resulting **ERRORS OF FACT**.
- C) The Jury erred with **ERROR OF FACT** by ignoring aspects of the Judge's charge
- D) Plaintiffs' Exhibits do not support claims made by Counsel,
nor do Plaintiffs' Exhibits support claims made by Plaintiffs' witnesses
- D1) Plaintiffs' Exhibits that Appellant authored were misrepresented
to paint Appellant in a false light, to mislead the Jury
- E) The Jury erred with **ERROR OF FACT** by ignoring Plaintiffs had no standing
- F) The Judge abused his discretion by ignoring Voir Dire desired by Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

C1458 dealt with damages sought by Respondents, as Members of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. (WHOA), which were imposed upon them by the Board of Directors (Board) of WHOA. C1458 Complaint (Judicial Notice to C1458 Complaint) presented misrepresentations of truth, and fact. The Complaint did **not** file a single, substantiating exhibit. Without evidence that supports **false** claims, they must be disregarded and discounted as **inadmissible**, and stricken by the Court (Judicial Notice to Rules 103(c), 105, 401, 402, SCRE; Judicial Notice to Rule 12(f), SCRCF).

Evidence presented by Appellant contradicted many Complaint claims, which Appellant finds are **PREVARICATIONS**.

Appellant suspects violations of Law with the filing of C1458. One of Plaintiff's witnesses admitted – based on information an belief - that a bribe was offered by Counsel, to allow Counsel to bring C1458 (T. p.237 ll.5-7). The Law prohibits a law firm from soliciting clients, in order to file a case in Court. The Law prohibits barratry:

SECTION 40-5-350. Soliciting legal business unlawful.
SECTION 16-17-10. Barratry prohibited.

Appellant believes that a high probability exists that this case was filed as a result of “Soliciting ...”, and/or “Barratry”, because the Taylors (two-named Plaintiffs) historically supported Appellant in his quest to bring actions of the Board into compliance with the Law, and with the Covenants and By-Laws. In the past, Mr. and Mrs. Taylor supported Appellant by making him their Proxy {Exhibit BOA.2 – judicial notice to a Court document}.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant presented a preponderance of evidence giving pertinent **facts** to the jury. A short period of time for Jury deliberation, along with a completely unreasonable verdict – the Jury got it wrong – led to this appeal. By any **reasonableness standard**, a Jury is bound to be a “... finder of fact ...”, and **must not** proceed to a verdict with misunderstanding and/or misapprehension of the **EVIDENCE** before it. They must discern the true facts as presented to them in the evidentiary record. A Jury can **not** base their verdict upon testimonial **hearsay** from unqualified or unreliable witnesses, nor from witnesses with whom the Board had tampered by holding Special Meetings to “brainwash” them. The Jury abrogated their role by **not** discerning **hearsay**, particularly when **no evidence** supported witness testimony.

The Jury's verdict being inconsistent with **EVIDENCE** presented to them, resulted in an outrageous award given by the Jury, flowing from an **emotional response**. Given the facts and **evidence** presented to the Jury, they were informed that Appellant's prior cases sought effectively **ZERO DOLLARS** in damages against the Board. Appellant sought **no** damages from WHOA members, **no** damages from named Plaintiff's **nor** from Plaintiff's Class (except Board-Class members), where Appellant contends that \$1 or \$0 are effectively irrelevant. For the most part, Plaintiff's Class members were **never involved** in any prior judicial action. Named Plaintiffs **never** served on any Board. As such, legally Plaintiffs and Plaintiff's Class had **no legal standing** with which to justify their case.

Evidence **proved** Appellant did **not** cause damage to Plaintiffs. C1458 was based upon a presumption that Appellant forced the Board into Court. Evidence **proved** that Appellant gave the Board many opportunities to "come to the table" with intent to resolve differences, and to avoid judicial actions in Court. It was the Board who annulled most all of Appellant's meritorious efforts to negotiate, mediate, and to resolve issues without a need for Court. Such factual **EVIDENCE** before the Jury was **ignored**.

Plaintiffs did **not** prove basic requirements for the Jury to find for them. Nothing more than opinionated **hearsay** showed any "ulterior motive(s)" that can be attributed to Appellant. That is: no substantive evidence was presented to the Jury showing even a remote possibility of anything representing "abuse of Court" by Appellant. Communications within WHOA, to its Board and to WHOA members, do **not** constitute abuse of Court by Appellant. Internal-WHOA communications can **not** remotely be termed, much less possibly be found to be,

abuse of Court by Appellant, even with wildest-imaginative misunderstanding and misapprehension, on the part of the Jury.

ARGUMENT

A) The Jury erred with **ERROR OF FACT** by **ignoring Appellant's factual evidence**

1. The Covenants (D-1) **prohibit** the Board from running up tens of thousands of dollars in legal fees, and then imposing a Special Assessment upon WHOA Members to pay for the Board's legal fees. Firstly per the "Covenants", the Board is empowered – **only** - to expend non-budgeted money for "... maintenance and upkeep of any improved or unimproved lot ...". Secondly, the Board is limited for what they can assess to members "... only in an amount equal to any sum or sums which had to be expended for that [lot expenditures] purpose. ...". The Jury erred with misunderstanding and misapprehension of this provision in the Covenants.

ARTICLE V: ASSOCIATION OF OWNERS

(4) In the event the Homeowners Association's Board of Directors and Officers shall deem it necessary to expend any sum of money for the maintenance and upkeep of any improved or unimproved lot, the Board shall be empowered to levy a special assessment applicable to that lot, but only in an amount equal to any sum or sums which had to be expended for that purpose. ... (D-1 p.7-8)

2. The Covenants (D-1) **specifically authorize** any person to bring lawsuits against the Board. The Covenants are clear – any person can prosecute any proceeding at law. Consequently, Appellant's intent to improve WHOA and to bring benefits to its members via "last resort" filing of lawsuits, can **not** legally be characterized as "abuse", pursuant to the Covenants. The Jury erred with misunderstanding and misapprehension of this provision in the Covenants.

If the undersigned, its successors or assigns, or any owner of any lot, their heirs or assigns, should violate or attempt to violate any of the

covenants, conditions and restrictions herein contained, it shall be lawful for any person or persons owning any of the real estate described above to prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity against the person or persons violating ... (D-1 p.2 par.1)

3. Had the Jury properly inspected “Exhibit X - List of all e-mails” (D-2), they could **not** possibly have accepted prevaricative contentions and testimony - based upon hearsay, that is: not supported by evidence before the Jury - that Appellant contacted the Board to further his own agenda and to cause damage to WHOA. Highlights of a proper inspection reveal:

- 3a) less than 2 e-mails per week were sent;
- 3b) several e-mails were from HOA **experts** - to educate the Board;
- 3c) several spoke of need for a “By-Laws Review Committee” (BLRC) - which the Board would **never** appoint;
- 3d) many asked for information, meeting schedule, and/or meeting minutes – which the Board generally **always kept secret**, to the detriment of transparency within WHOA ;
- 3e) an e-mail of 05/30/17 requested mediation – the Board initially would not participate;
- 3f) only towards the end of page 2, in late June, July, and August did Appellant make multitudinous effort to be sure the Board was completely informed that their **inaction** – with further attitude towards Appellant of “get lost”, “go soak your head”, and “take a hike” - would leave no remaining option for Appellant other than judicial action to resolve differences; and
- 3g) note that a last-listed e-mail on 09/13/2017 conveyed a “Courtesy copy of Court Complaint”, that was intended to give the Board another chance to come to the table to negotiate with intent to resolve – but the **Board still took no action** to avoid Court.

4. All of 3a-3g above give credence to Appellants’ efforts to try to work with the Board to resolve differences in an attempt to avoid Court. Appellant **testified under oath** that his intent was always to improve the association, and to bring benefits to its members:

... And I was stressing negotiations. And this was my purpose resulting in changing, benefiting all members of the WHOA, which was always the intent in which I had approached the board. But from my perspective, the board did not have any intent to accommodate anything or any thought that I had. And sure enough, they stonewalled every effort to have some improvements made to the association. (T. pp.279-280 ll.24-25 and ll. 1-6)

5. Appellant's attempt to avoid Court is further corroborated by a most courteous e-mail of 06/25/17: "One Last Opportunity to Resolve Open Issues" (D-3), which again informed the Board that Court could be avoided, but which the Board ignored.

... we have a **short window** to agree on private meetings **before such judicial action** is taken. This window can be used profitably to address our several open issues. (Court's Exhibit 4 p.8 par.last)

6. One and **only one** time did a Board **deign to meet** with Appellant to consider understanding each other's positions. Appellant under oath testified to such (T. p.282 ll.23-24). After this one meeting, Appellant intended for the Board review and confirm a plainly-labeled, **preliminary draft** for meeting minutes (D-4). The Board at that time would **not** continue to participate, and thereafter cemented their attitudes towards Appellant that included all of: "take a hike", "go soak your head", and "get lost". Appellant's under-oath-direct testimony shows (emphasis added):

And the simple facts of the matter were, as I think I've **proven now in exhibits presented here**, that I tried many different times in many different ways to avoid litigation, but the board simply wouldn't hear it. And I believe in one of the questions in cross-examination, it came out that they kind of had an attitude of **take a hike**. We don't have to deal with you. We don't have to listen to you. We don't have to do anything that you want to do or that **you're proposing for improvements of the association to bring benefits to the members**. So that was the problem. (T. pp.291-292 ll.23-25, 1-8)

7. The Board rarely acted with **good faith**, which they are **required to do** under Law {Code Section 33-31-830(a)(1)}. Defense D-5 proves Appellant suggested mediation. Excerpts from D-5 of 08/17 and 08/29/17 "Notice of Pending Judicial Action", and of 09/13/17 "Courtesy Copy of Final Draft of Pending Complaint" confirm:

In view of the lack of responsiveness and good faith on behalf of the Board, please be informed ... (D-5 p.1 par.1)

It continues to be apparent that I cannot expect **good faith from the Board, as none** has been shown to date. ... (D-5 p.4 par.2)

To date the Board "has had your way", refusing to take actions which are **certainly in the best interest of the WHOA**, and **for the benefit of all WHOA members**. ... (D-5 p.4 par.4)

As a final **courtesy before filing**, please find attached a copy of a Final Draft (except for references to Exhibits) of the pending Complaint on behalf of all Members of the WHOA, for Declaratory and Injunctive relief (D-5 p.6 par.1)

All of the work above was such an unnecessary step. By working together, with the **Board** showing even a **modicum of good faith**, we could so easily have avoided court. (D-5 p.7 par.2)

In my ongoing effort to seek resolution of our differences without litigation, the Board was sent an email on March 29, which questioned:

"If the Board will not invite me to a meeting, may I welcome the entire Board to participate in non-binding mediation?"

(D-5 p.2 par.1)

8. The Jury seemed to misunderstand and misapprehend that in a first case – 2017-CP-23-06301 (C6301) - Appellant sought "... declaratory judgment and declaratory relief ..." (D-6 p.1 no.1) for six, simple questions {D-6 1(a-f)} related to interpretation of the By-Laws (D-8). Stated explicitly is Appellant sought "Nominal Damages" (D-6 p.2 no.2) where "... it wasn't a money thing, it wasn't to punish anyone. It wasn't to create hardship on anyone.", to which Appellant reiterated in his under-oath testimony (emphasis added):

So -- and as we've covered already, that I sought a declaratory judgment of the bylaws questions. And I **only asked for nominal damages**, which my lawyer told me that that meant one dollar against Defendants. So it **wasn't a money thing. It wasn't to punish anyone. It wasn't to create hardship on anyone**. It was very simple questions of court, here's the bylaws. Here's what they say. Here is what we think should be done, based on what had happened in the association. And you see, again, this was the attorney who did this order. (T. p.288 ll. 7-17)

9. Appellant repeatedly requested meetings with the Board, but the **Board** would **not** schedule meetings, nor answer questions, to attempt to resolve differences. An e-mail to the Board of 04/01/20 shows further violation of the By-Laws (D-8) perpetrated by the Board – they did not schedule for me “... to be heard at a meeting of the Board”, nor did they respond to my request for a “hearing” pursuant to the By-Laws (D-8):

Subject: RE: Need to Meet
Date: Wed, 1 Apr 2020 08:39:47

... my suggestion that a meeting is needed.

However, yes, the Board received my letter of March 23 [File: rw0323eob-myreqsrev2.pdf]. Perhaps you forgot? This letter asked for questions to be answered. Still to date, no answers have been received.

Recently I received notice from the Board about "... please pay ...". This needs discussion in a meeting. With suspicion of what the Board is about, I request: "... to be heard at a meeting of the Board", pursuant to By-Laws Article XIII. If the Board will not meet, then I will request a "hearing" pursuant to By-Laws Article XI, Section 4.

(D-7 pp.1-2 par. 1-3)

10. Appellant tried to encourage the Board to be transparent about their actions and plans, but after a first and only meeting, all Boards continued their “talk the talk” misconduct – generally never responding to Appellant’s request that they “walk the walk” via action:

Subject: Re: Need to Meet
Date: Wed, 8 Apr 2020 21:23:43

Woodington Board:

However, having the experience with prior Boards, is this a "talk the talk" (meaningless) statement, or is this a "walk the walk" promise to action? If you intend to "walk the walk" you must get Member approval **BEFORE** extensive legal fees are incurred. Please tell me when, and how, such approval will be sought by the Board. If you will not be transparent, and answer, then let's face it: your statement is nothing more than talk the talk! (D-7 p.3 par. 2)

11. The Jury with misunderstanding and misapprehension ignored that the Board – **not** Appellant – caused damage to Respondents. Invoices causing damage to Respondents came from the Board (D-10).

11a) This **evidence is irrefutable** showing the **Board was responsible for 100% of damages**. Such can **not** be ignored by the Jury. Appellant can **not** vicariously be held responsible for actions of an independent third party, over whom Appellant had no control. The Law suggests such is true {judicial notice Code Section 15-38-15(A)}. The Jury made no attempt – based upon D-10 – to recognize the fact that Appellant “... shall only be liable for that percentage of the indivisible damages determined by the jury ...”. Such percentage for Appellant was **ZERO** !

11b) Appellant is a member of WHOA, that is: “the corporation”. The Law is specific that Appellant is **not** personally liability for actions of the corporation (done by the Board):

A member of a corporation is not, as such, personally liable for the acts, debts, liabilities, or obligations of the corporation.

(judicial notice, Code Section 33-31-612)

12. Appellant asked the Board to “Please Agree to Avoid More Legal Fees” on 02/08/20 (D-11), but consistent with the Board’s attitude towards Appellant, the Board would not agree.

Appellant offered to dismiss his Court cases, which the Board ignored:

With good faith on my part to dismiss my court cases, and with intent to save WHOA Members from more legal fees, a reply from “woodingtonhoa@gmail.com” was not on point. The reply made no attempt to address the issue to save Member[s] from more legal fees.

(D-11 p.1 par.3)

13. Appellant asked the Board for clarification about “Your Fees ; 2019-CP-23-00269” on 02/28/20 (D-12); in addition, the Board ignored another request to meet. The Board also ignored that member approval was required:

Please plan a meeting to meet with me to discuss to whom legal fees belong. Do they belong to WHOA? If so, are you authorizing payment from WHOA funds of additional legal fees? As I think all have agreed, you can't do that without Member approval for more than \$1500, since no legal fees are contained in the Budget passed at the Special Meeting (except for McCabe, Trotter, and Beverly). (D-12 p.1 par.1)

14. Appellant tried again on 03/01/20 (D-13) to make the Board realize that legal fees needed to be controlled, but the Board simply “... opened the legal-fees floodgates ...”, made no attempt at control, nor did they forward to Appellant any authorizations:

How shameful that "the Board" has, once again, opened the legal-fees floodgates, without even so much as making any effort or taking the time to try to understand, or to meet with me for this purpose, as I requested more than once!

At this time, you must be sure that no attorney nor law firm "runs up their bill" without your _PRIOR APPROVAL_! Please be sure to forward to me all such approvals that you grant to anyone regarding authorizations to disburse WHOA funds for legal fees. (D-13 p.1 par.1-2)

15. Appellant on 05/10/20 sent to the Board his “Request for Information Relative to Legal Fees”, to which the Board never responded:

In previous correspondence, I made the Board aware of what I believe to be a "problem attitude" exhibited by the Board. On Saturday, May 9, 2020, I was appalled to hear this wrongful attitude emphatically confirmed by the Board. This happened as I retrieved posted mail from my mailbox, in a brief chat with Board President Mona Craigo as she and her husband walked past my house. Please see as appended. (D-14 p.1 par.3)

[Appellant]: [retrieving mail at his mailbox, and waving a letter from the Boards' law firm] Your law firm continues to run up their legal bill.

[Mona/Jody CRAIGO]: You need to shut your mouth. We hope they [law firm] run up their bill a lot more!

[Appellant]: I live here; you are walking by my lot. I think we agreed that the Board cannot exceed \$1500 without Member approval.
(D-14 p.2 par.1-3)

16. Appellant on 02/02/20 sent to the Board his “Proposed Settlement to Avoid More Legal Fees” (D-15), to which the Board would not agree. This contact stressed: “... **AVOID MORE LEGAL FEES** ...”, but was ignored by the Board:

On February 3, 2020, all the Board should receive Priority Mail which contains a settlement proposal, whose intent is to **AVOID MORE LEGAL FEES** being incurred by WHOA, that the Board will try to force WHOA Members to pay. (D-15 p.1 par.1)

17. Appellant on 09/24/20 sent to the Board a letter asking: “Please Attempt to **Mitigate Damages** per Your Fiduciary Duty to WHOA” (D-16), which was ignored by the Board:

Please be informed that a “Motion to Dismiss” was **DENIED** for Appeal 2020-000438, related to 2019-CP-23-00269. Consequently, the law firm involved with this Appeal must now prepare an Initial Brief. Very likely, legal fees associated with Brief preparation will total tens-of-thousands of dollars. These fees do not, and cannot, belong to WHOA.

The Board needs to take action to attempt to “**Mitigate Damages**” that may otherwise occur to WHOA. ... (D-16 p.1 par.1-2)

18. Appellant on 09/25/20 followed up with the Board to remind them that: “Many Attempts to **Mitigate Damages** Were Ignored by the Board” (D-17). However, the Board took no action, nor did they acknowledge Appellant’s many attempts to save WHOA members from more legal fees:

Please recall a selected 13 of my previous attempts to “**Mitigate Damages**” that were proposed, but which have been ignored. Inaction by the Board in this regard is a breach of your contractual duty, as well as a breach of your fiduciary duty to WHOA and to its Members. Date in 2020 is denoted below in a format of mmdd:

1. 0201 Proposed settlement agreement
2. 0202 Avoid more legal fees
3. 0210 2020 Board must act to save Members from more legal fees
4. 0213 RE: Please Agree to Avoid More Legal Fees
5. 0214 Did Board authorize these legal fees
6. 0228 Please reply ASAP for who is the party responsible to pay legal fees
7. 0301 Member approval is needed for more than \$1500 legal fees
8. 0309 Questions to answer for mediation
9. 0401 Need to discuss "please pay"; Will the Board comply with By-Laws?
10. 0408 Need to work together
11. 0417 Answer mediation questions; take lawful actions
12. 0510 Board must use its authority and be responsible
13. 0518 Please disclose if authority for Appeal-legal fees was given
to your law firm

Of these, many are still without answers but all of these are still “on the table” for the Board to consider, particularly **MEDIATION!** But, the Board continues to breach your contractual duty to act as the governing body of WHOA, and to breach your fiduciary duty to act to protect WHOA and to protect its Members from legal fees, in particular! (D-17 p.1 par.2)

19. Appellant on 04/07/20 sent to WHOA members a letter (D-18): “Legal Fees Are Being Hidden From Members - Who is Going to Pay? - Discussion is Needed ...”, to inform them about accumulating legal fees that the Board was keeping secret and hiding from WHOA members. Appellant asked several questions of members, one being: “Are you going to stand by and do nothing while legal fees pile up?” . However, no member seemed interested in pursuing this information supplied by Appellant.

Again, the same thing is being done, as happened previously. The Board is accumulating **legal fees** that are being kept **secret!** The Board continues to “run up the legal bill”, **without required** Member approval. The By-Laws are clear, and they require:

ARTICLE X - EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS

Section 4: The non-budgeted expenditure of corporate funds in excess of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,500.00) for any individual project must be approved by a majority vote of the membership at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present.

Are you going to stand by and do nothing while legal fees pile up? Can you guess who the Board will decide has to pay these fees? Do you imagine the implications of doing nothing? To date, legal fees are approaching

\$150,000, where Boards incurred all of this amount. NONE of this amount was APPROVED by Members before Boards did it, but Boards did it anyway, regardless of By-Laws requirements! Who is going to pay? Can you guess? Should not the Board, at least, be advising Members openly (as opposed to keeping secrets), in advance of incurring major expenses? (D-18 p.1 par.2)

20. Appellant on 02/14/22 sent to WHOA members a letter (D-19): ‘**DO NOT PAY** for **ILLEGAL** “Assessment Invoice” Demand from the Board ...’. This letter specifically advised members: “**NO MEMBER SHOULD PAY ANY AMOUNT TO WHOA**”. For members who decided to ignore Appellant’s advice, they did so of their own free will, with full knowledge that their own election to “... support the Board ...” was something which they, and they themselves, must be responsible. After the fact to claim that Appellant was responsible for their own, free-will decision, has **no** basis in fact, **nor** in Law. Consequently, members who decided themselves to pay the Board’s assessment can **not** legitimately claim to part of the Class who allegedly suffered damage at the hands of Appellant.

You probably received a letter from the Board dated 02/08/22. This Board letter tells WHOA members (Members) to “hurry up and pay” another “Assessment”. The Board **CANNOT LEGALLY LEVY** this Assessment upon Members. **NO MEMBER SHOULD PAY ANY AMOUNT TO WHOA** as related to this demand. The Board’s demand is both **ILLEGAL AND UNLAWFUL** - our “Covenants” do **NOT** give the Board power or authority to levy upon Members a **special assessment** for legal fees. ... (D-19 p.1 par.1)

21. Appellant clarified with factual evidence that an invoice was received by the Board on 07/13/18 from McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C. (D-20). This date is well before the 11/09/18 ballot (Court’s Exhibit 4 p.58) that asked WHOA members for approval to be authorized to incur such-legal expenses. Contentions to the contrary are anachronistic **ERRORS OF FACT**. Appellant’s under-oath testimony confirms (emphasis added):

MR. WEDLAKE: So Defendant's Exhibit No. 20 is an invoice from McCabe, Trotter & Beverly. And as I was saying, it's only the date that is pertinent there. So see, this happened on **7/13/2018**. ... (T. p.295 ll.6-9)
... The **vote to approve** [to expend] **these funds** was taken on **November 9th, 2018**. ... (T. p.295 ll.20-21)
So, see, this was a **slight of hand after the fact** that the **board** ran up all this stuff and **did not have** [prior] **member approval**. But after the fact, they decided to ballot it.
And **that is not proper**, per my understanding of the **bylaws** that was shown in the previous exhibit. (T. p.296 ll.3-7)

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