**RECEIVED**

**Oct 03 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE  
COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

---

**Appellate Case No.: 2023-001889**

Case No. 2020-CP-23-01458

---

Beverly Taylor, Marvin Taylor, and Ada Alvarez, individually  
and on behalf of all similarly situated individuals,

Respondents,

v.

Raymond A. Wedlake a/k/a R. Allan Joy,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Emily Kate O'Brian (SC Bar #101824)  
16 W. North Street, Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 326-4186  
emily@campbellteague.com  
*Attorney for Respondents*

October 3, 2024

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Respondents brought this case to hold Appellant responsible for abusing the judicial process over the last seven years. He threatened—and followed through on—filing numerous cases, motions, and subpoenas in an effort to force his neighbors to either give in to his demands or defend themselves in court. In November of 2023, a jury considered the evidence presented by both parties and determined that Appellant was liable for abuse of judicial process. The jury

awarded Respondents \$125,000 in actual damages and \$250,000 in punitive damages. This appeal followed.<sup>1</sup>

In his first paragraph, Appellant reveals his true motive behind this appeal when he states, “the Jury got it wrong.” (App. Br. p.3.) He does not like the verdict, so he has appealed to try to change the decision of the finders of fact. But that is not how our judicial system works. Disagreement with a jury verdict is not sufficient to overturn it. This Court is charged with reviewing the case for errors of law which Appellant preserved for consideration on appeal. This is not an opportunity for Appellant to re-try his case just because he did not like the outcome. And Appellant’s challenges must be grounded in the record and may not be speculative.

#### **A. Issue Preservation**

“[F]ormer Chief Judge Alex Sanders famously wrote, ‘[A]ppellate courts in this state, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.’” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 331 fn 4, 730 S.E.2d 282, 286 (2012), *citing Langley v. Boyter*, 284 S.C. 162, 181, 325 S.E.2d 550, 561 (Ct. App.1984), *quashed on other grounds*, 286 S.C. 85, 332 S.E.2d 100 (1985). His point being that, in South Carolina, appeals must raise the issues to be decided. *Id.* In the absence of a presented and preserved exception, there is nothing properly before the court for it to decide. *See Evans v. Bruce*, 245 S.C. 42, 44, 138 S.E.2d 643, 643 (1964); *see also S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301–02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (holding that to be preserved for appellate review, an issue must

---

<sup>1</sup> In his initial brief, Appellant has accused me (counsel for Respondents) personally of lying, engaging in bribery, intentionally misleading the Court, and a whole host of other evils. This personal attack on my character is inappropriate and the allegations entirely unfounded. (For example, Appellant asserts that a standard contingency fee arrangement constitutes bribery.) (App. Br. p.3.) I do not intend to address these personal insults further, as they are not relevant to the legal issues at hand, but wanted my denial of such allegations noted for the record.

have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity). “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). *See also Armstrong v. Collins*, 366 S.C. 204, 225, 621 S.E.2d 368, 378–79 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding the appellant's argument on appeal was not preserved because he argued a different ground before the circuit court).

Therefore, the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules are specific in what is required in an appellant’s initial brief to set forth the issues to be decided. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, requires inclusion of a “concise and direct [statement] as to each issue” presented for the court’s review. Rule 208(b)(1)(F), SCACR, also requires inclusion of “[a] short conclusion stating the precise relief requested.”

“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.” Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. If the issue is not included in the statement of issues on appeal, it is unpreserved for appellate review. *See, e.g., Brown v. Odom*, 425 S.C. 420, 436, 823 S.E.2d 183, 191 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing Rule 208(b)(1)(B) in determining the appellant did not preserve an issue which he failed to include in the statement of issues on appeal); *Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys., LLC*, 394 S.C. 268, 277, 715 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2011) (declining to address two of appellants’ arguments on their merits where the issues were not included in the sole statement of the issue on appeal); *Burris v. Propst Lumber & Logging, Inc.*, 396 S.C. 85, 96, 719 S.E.2d 695, 701 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding an argument

abandoned by appellant on two grounds where it was not listed in the statement of issues on appeal and had no supporting authority cited).

The appellate court is unable to decide issues which are not preserved and presented to it. *See, e.g., Brown*, 425 S.C. at 436, 823 S.E.2d at 191 (citing Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, in determining the appellant did not preserve an issue which he failed to include in the statement of issues on appeal).

### **B. Factual Background**

During trial of the case, Appellant made a motion for directed verdict at the close of Respondents' case in chief. (Tr. 261:19-21.) This motion was denied. *Id.* At the close of all evidence, Judge Gravely asked Appellant if he had anything else to add and explicitly stated, "This is the time if you want to renew any motions." (R. p. 704, lines 11-16.) Appellant responded, "No motions, Your Honor." (R. p. 704, line 17.) SC Rule Civ. Pro. 50(b) states: "Whenever a motion for a directed verdict *made at the close of all the evidence* is denied or for any reason is not granted, the court is deemed to have submitted the action to the jury subject to a later determination of the legal questions raised by the motion. *A party who has moved for a directed verdict may* move to have the verdict and any judgment entered thereon set aside and to have judgment entered in accordance with his motion for a directed verdict..." (emphasis added).

After the verdict was published, Appellant did not seek anything further before the jury was dismissed. (R. p. 779, lines 17-19.) When asked about any post-trial motions, Appellant stated, "So my motion will be for judgment notwithstanding the verdict that the amounts of these awards are simply not possible. I don't believe there's any evidence to support these magnitudes. It was a matter of record to the jury to decide to award these amounts." (R. p. 781, lines 16-21.) Judge Gravely properly noted that his role was to "determine was there evidence to

support the jury’s verdict.” (R. p. 782, lines 4-5.) The Court then noted that there was evidence in the record to support the actual damages finding of \$125,000. (R. p. 782, lines 5-6; *see also* R. pp. 615-617 for admission of this evidence.) Next, Judge Gravely went through the three-factor test regarding the amount of punitive damages awarded. *See BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S.Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996). (R. p. 782, line 7 through 783, line 12). The Court concluded that the award of punitive damages in this case was appropriate. (R. p. 783, lines 9-14.) While Appellant maintained his objection, he did not present any new challenges to the legal basis for the ruling or assert any other legal theories for the Court’s consideration. (R. p. 783, lines 15-22.) The Circuit Court properly considered and applied the law in this case; thus, there is no abuse of discretion.

Next, Appellant stated, “I would like to make a motion for a mistrial. Because, with all due respect, items from my proposed charge to the jury were not charged to the jury. And in my perspective, none of the evidence placed before the jury would be consistent with their verdict and their awards.” (R. p. 783, line 22 through 784, line 2.) The Court responded by denying the motion, explaining that what was presented by Appellant was not a proposed jury charge. (R. p. 784, lines 3-15; *see also* Court’s Exhibit 4, R. p. 203.) Appellant again maintained his objection but did not present any other legal arguments or seek any clarification of the ruling. (R. p. 784, lines 16-19.) No further motions were raised. (R. p. 784, lines 16-19.)

### **C. Argument Regarding Issues on Appeal**

The limited issues properly preserved for this Court’s consideration do not constitute an abuse of judicial discretion or other error of law. The ruling of the Circuit Court should be affirmed, and each of Appellant’s Issues on Appeal should be denied. Each Issue is addressed specifically below, with the letters corresponding to those in the presented Issues on Appeal.

- A) Appellant has presented no basis for challenging the integrity of the jury as the finder of fact. He has not cited anything in the record that would support his contention, and did not preserve this issue at trial.
- B) The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Court's Exhibit 4 (R. p. 203) as purported proposed jury instructions, but instead properly instructed the jury as to the elements of the single claim submitted to them—Abuse of Process. A review of the Court's Exhibit 4 shows that what Appellant presented was not appropriate for a jury. The judge properly considered his requests and did not abuse his discretion in denying the same.
- C) Appellant has presented no basis for challenging the jury's adherence to the law and did not preserve this issue at trial.
- D) The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by entering Respondents' exhibits into evidence. There is nothing in Appellant's argue or citations to the record showing any abuse here, and without such evidence this Court cannot overturn the sound discretion of the trial court.
- Even assuming the exhibits were irrelevant, Appellant cannot show that any prejudice resulted from their admission. These are court records and letters authored by Appellant. They are not inherently inflammatory. Appellant has not preserved any objections to the use of the exhibits. Further, Appellant was given the opportunity to provide his own testimony and arguments regarding the exhibits, and this was properly submitted to the jury as the trier of fact to determine the weight of the evidence.
- E) Appellant has not preserved for appeal any challenge to standing.

F) The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by determining it was inappropriate to ask potential jurors the voir dire questions presented by Appellant in Court's Exhibit 1 (R. p. 201). Jurors take an oath and are required to comply with the law as it is given to them. The other items presented by Appellant do not relate to the claim of Abuse of Process at issue or the jurors' ability to serve in this particular matter. Further, Appellant made no motions indicating that jurors were improperly placed on the jury because these questions were not asked.

## V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court AFFIRM the rulings of the Circuit Court in this matter and deny review of any issues not properly before this Court.